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vSs.
JORGE GRANADOS
and MANUEL CACERES,
Defendants.
/
- INDICTMENT
The Grand Jury charges:

At all times relevant to this Indictment, unless otherwise specified:

General Allegations

Legal Background
1. The Foreign Corrupt Pfactices Act of 1977, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, et
seq. ( “FCPA”), prohibited certain classes of persons and entities from corruptly making
payments to foréign government officials to assist in obtaining or retaining business.
Specifically, the FCPA prohibited any domestic concern, as well as any officer, director,

employee and agent of a domestic concern, from willfully making use of any means or




instrumentality o"E iﬁterStéte commerce cOfrupﬂy in ﬁntheféricé of an offer, payment, promise to
pay,vor'authorizati.()h of thé paymént of m‘oney'(_)r‘anything of value to a foreign ofﬁcié_l, ér' _to. any
“person, while knowing that all or a portion of such money or thing of value would be offered,
given, or promised; directly or indireétly, to a foreign ofﬁcial,‘to: inﬂuencé the foreign official in
his or her official capacity, induce the foreign official to do or omit to do an act in violation of his
or her lawful duty, or to secure any improper advantage in order to assist in obtaining or retaining
business for or with, or directing business fo, any person.
Entities and [ndividuals

2. Latin Node, Inc. t“LatiNode_”), headquartered in Miami, Florida,' was incorporated.
in Florida in or around 1999, and thus was a “domestic concern’f as that term is useci in the
FCPA,- 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-2(h)(1)(B). LatiNode was a pr‘ivately held company that pro.vided.
wholesale telecoMunicgtions sewices using iﬁtefﬁet protocol technology in,_a number of -

countries thro’ugtht the world, including Honduras. LatiNode provided. these services both

.- -

directly and througf; its subsidiarié?. : , o S ..
| 3. LN (?bﬁi@lhiéaeibnésjé Guatemalan.company haédguartergd in Guatemala City, . -
Guatemala, was a wéhollyowned éuB‘sidiary'of LatiI%Idee?ﬁ;tm- maintéli_nE;Qj a@ihfefnational call
center for LatiNodeECL.fé"t(;rné;fs andcarrled out Lél%iNogd"e.bu.sir'itf.:ss in Honduras, Guatemala, El

Salvador, Nicaragua, and various locations in the Caribbean. LN Comunicaciones maintained its

own bank account in Guatemala City, Guatemala, but that account was fully funded by LatiNode

from its Miami-Dade County, F loridaﬁ bank account.



4; Servicios IP, S.A. (“Servicibs IP”) was a (.}.uatemél'an' corr'i;')any' hominaily bwnéd )
by two LN Comunicaciones employees that was c;éatéd. ;1t the diré(étién_ of LatiNode é'n/d LN
Comunicaciones jn or around 2005. - '" -

5. Defendant JORGE GRANADOS was the founder, Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”), and Chairman of the Board of LatiNode from in or éround 1999 to in or around 2007,
Throughout that time period, GRANADOS had authority to set company policy, contract with
telécommurxications companies, hire and fire employees, set sales prices, and approve sales
practices in foreign countries. GRANADOS was. a citizen of the United States. GRANADOS
was a “‘domestic concern” and an officer, director, employee and agent of a domestic cbnc:/ern;—as
these terms are defined in the FCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-2(h)(1).

6. Defendant MANUEL CACERES was a senior executi‘\-/e of LatiNodg, hold_ing
such titles as Vice President Business Development, from in or around September 2004 to in or
around.2007. Throughout that time period, CACERES was responsible for, among other things,

.developing LatiNode’?s business in Héhduras. CACERES was a citizen of Hondura§ but résided
in and was a lawful p;rnignent resident of the United States. CACERES was a “dorf;éstié
concern” and an ofﬁcier, employee, and agent df a-c_lo..me/st-i(::-.concérn', as tﬁe§e terms aréidéﬁned in
the FCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-2(h)(1). o | »‘ .

7. | _ Co-coﬁspirator A was a senior commercial executive Mfor LatiNode, holding such
titles as Vice Presideﬂt of Sales, Vice President Wholesale Division, and Chief Commercial
Officer (“CCO”), from in or around November 2000 to in or around 2007. Throughout that time
period, Co-conspirator A was responsible for, among other things, LatiNode’s commercial and

sales relationships with long distance carriers.




8. Co-conspiratqr B was the Chief Ffman_cial Officer (“CFO”) of LatiNode from infor- -+ -
around March 2005 to in or a‘réund 5_2067._ Throughout that time period, Co-conspirator B was - -
responsible for, among other things, approving pajzments and wire transfers by LatiNode. |

9. Co.-conspirator C was a senior executive of LatiNode, holding such titles as Vice
President Network Opérations and Quality Assurance, and managed LN Comunicaciones in
Guatemala from in or around early 2000 to.in or around 2007. As part of his responsibilities
throughout this tfme period, Co-conspirator C would authorize transactions from the bank
accounts of LN Comunicacioneé and Servicios IP.

10. Emprésa'Hdndureﬁa de Telecomunicaciones (“Hondutel”) was the wholly state-
owned telecommunications authority in Honduras, established under Honduran law and |
headquartered in Tegucigélpa, Honduras. Hondutel ‘was responsible for providing
telecommunications sérviCes in i:Iondufas, and its operations were overseen by another Honduran
government éntity;' ~C6rhi'sién Naéional de Télecomunicaciones. HQndufel was an “agency”rand
‘;instrumentality” of the Honduran government, and its ofﬁcérs, employees and directors were
“foreign officials,” _a;s"'[hese terms are defined in the FCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-2(h)(2§<A)." )

11. Ofﬁéial .1 ‘was a senior executive of Hondutel from in or arounci February 26061 to. -
in or around Decemgbcr 2007. Ofﬁ'_ci-al l héd broad decisioﬁfmaking autho:ity,dna influence over.
telecommunications contracts with private sérvice providers and their accompaﬁyidg rates.

12. Official 2 was an attorney in the Hondutel legél department who worked directly
for Official 1.

13. Official 3 was a Minister in the Honduran Government and was a member of

Hondutel’s Board of Directors.




The Interconnection Agreement with Hondutel-

14. Beginning in or around 2003, the- Hondurari Leg'isiat’ur’e passed legislation that
permitted Hondutel to enter into contracts with private telecbmmunications companies.

15. . From at least as early as November 2003 throuéh in or-around December 2005,
LatiNode sought to win an interconnection agreement with Hondutel, which would permit
LatiNode to use Hondutel’s telecommunications lines. LatiNode sought to establish a network
between Honduras and the United States to provide long distance services between the two
countries. LatiNode sought to pr(;vide a service in which calleré could “originate” calls in the
United States that would “terminate”— meaning be received—in Honduras, and vice versa.
LatiNode executives saw the interconnection agreemeﬁt with Hondutel as a key component to
developing LatiNodé’s telecommunications business in Honduras.

16.  On or about December 5, 2005, LatiNode learned th:atriAt was the sole winner of
the interconnection agreé_mep‘t with_Ho.ndutel. Under the agreement, LatiNode was rgquired td
pay Hondutel the followihng rates for calls tefminatihé to Honduras (“Termination Rates”): $0.21
. per minute for fixed calls and $023 for mobile calls. The aig-rge'r_ﬁentwé_ll'so'fequired LatiNode to |
prepare “Monthly Aéqounts,”'whiéh Wére to include, among éthe;.;ﬁiﬂgs,.thé' number of m_iﬁu_tés _
used by LatiNode and the aiaplicab’l'e Termination Rate. |

17.  Almostimmediately after winni.ng the interconnection agreement with Hondutel,
‘LatiNode executives realized that LatiNode needed to obtain é reduction in the Termination
Rates in order to be more competitive in the Hohduran telecommunications market. LatiNode
exécutives also learned that Ofﬁcial 1 was conside.ring whether to rescind Hondutel’s

interconnection agreement with LatiNode.



" -Conspiracy
(18US.C.§371)
l. Paragraphs 1 throixgh 17 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as though set forth herein.
2. From in or around April 2006, and continuing through in or around October 2007,
the exact dates being unknown to the Grand J ury, at Miami-Dade County, in the Southern

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JORGE GRANADOS
and MANUEL CACERES,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy,.and knowingly
conspire, confederate and agree with_ each other, and with other persons, known and unknqwn to
~ the Grand Jury, to commi'tr'offehses argainstr the Uﬁited States,rthat is, to willfully make use of the
mails and means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of ar;
offer, payment, promiée to pay, and‘authorizét_ion of the paymenf of any money, offer, gift,
promis¢ to give, and authofizat_ion of the giving of anything of _value,_ tq a foreign official, a_nd to
a person, while knowing that all or a portion of sucﬁ_money and thin'g 6t’value’ would be and had
been offered, given,'and promié’ed, to a foreign official, fof pﬁrposes of (i) influencing acts and
decisions of such foreign ofﬁCial in his or her official capgc_ity; (ii) inducing such foreign official
to do and omit to do acts in violation of the lawful duty of such official; (iii) securing an
impropef advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign official to use his or her influence with a
fbreign government and agencies and instrumentalities thereof to affect and influence acts and
decisions of such government and agenciés and instrumentalities, in order to assist defendants

- JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, LatiNode; and others, known and unknown
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to the Grand Jury, in obtaining and retaining business for and with, and directing business to;
' _LatiNode, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-2(a).

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

3. A purpose of the conspiracy was to obtain from Hondutel business advantgges for
LatiNode including, but not limited to, preferred telecommunications rates, retaining the |
interconnection agreement, and continued operation in Honduras despite late payments to
Hondutel, by paying,b_ribes to Honduran government officials, including to ofﬁC_ers and
~ employees of the Government of Honduras and of Hondutel, é telecommunications company that
was an agency and instrumentality of the Government of Hondurés. '

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

_ The manner and means by whiéh JORGE GRANADOS aﬁd MANUEL CACERES énd
their co—conspiratorsisought to accomplish the 0bjec>ts and purposes of the conspiracy included,
among other things, the fo-llowingz- | o S

4, Defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, together wit};
others, would and dicii discuss the competitive n-eed. to obtain lower-Te.rrr_lination Rates paid_by
LatiNode under the iﬁterconnection agreement with andUtel.

S. Defeﬁdants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL éACERES, togethér. Qith
others, would and did identify officers and employees of the Government of Honduras and of
Hondutel whom they believed could and would help LatiNode obtain such lower rates.

6. Defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, together with

others, would and did discuss making bribe payments to such Honduran foreign officials in order

to obtain such lower rates.



7. Defendahf MANU’EL CACERES would and did discuss with Ofﬁciaj 1; Ofﬁcfiél,
2 and Official 3, or a subset thereof, obtaining lower rates for LatiNode under the ‘interc.omiectionr
agreement with Hondutel.

8. Defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, together with
others, would and did offer to pay, promise to pay, and authorize the payment of bribes, directly
and indirectly, to and for the benefit of Official 1, Official 2 and Official 3, in exchange for these
Ofﬁ;ials’ agreements to secure lower rates ,an_ci other benefits for 'Lati.Node under the
interconnection agreement with Hondutel.

9. Dgfeﬁdant MANUEL CACERES would and did discuss with Official .1, Ofﬁcial
2 and Official 3, or a subset thereof, the amount of the bribe payments.

10. Defe_ndant. MANUEL CACERES would and did receive instructions from
Official 1, Ofﬁgiél 2 and Ofﬁéial 3 as to the manner by which the bribe payments were to be
A paid—for example, the name.s and locations of the bank accounts to which the bribe payments
should be transferred—and would and did forward these instructions to relevant LatiNode
employees. : ' 7 ' . o . | N -

1. Defendants .deGE 'GRANADOS.':;{nd.MANUEL CA:éERES, together with
others, would and did Wire_ gpd cause to be wired cerfain* bribe payments from LatiNode’s bank
accounts in Miami-Dade County, Florida, to the bank accouﬁts designated by Official 1, Official
2 and Official 3.

12. Defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, together with

others, would and did make certain bribe payments and cause certain bribe payments to be made




from LatiNode’s foreign subsidiaries to Official 1, 'Ofﬁéia‘l‘z andi(A)fﬁcilal 3 in the manner
designated by Official 1,-Official 2 and Official 3. - | | |

13. Defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, together with
others, would and did discuss the need to obtain a written agreement by Hondutel to lower the
Termination Rates under the interconnection agreement. Among other things, these defendants
and co-conspirators discussed the “discrepancy notices” that LatiNode was receiving because
certain employees from the Hondutel Collectic.ms Department were unaware that Official 1,
Official 2 and Official 3 had agreed to 1owér Termination Rates and that the lack of a formal

agreement could complicate LatiNode’s acquisition by eLandia, Inc. (“eLandia”).

14,  Defendant MANUEL CACERES, together with others, would and did discuss

| making bribe pa)}'rr‘lents to certain employees of Hondutel’s Collections Dep/artment in order fo
rgsolvé the biliing digsputes created by these “discrepancy notﬂiAcesz.” A

15.  Defendant MANUEL CACERES would and did communicate with Official 1,
Ofﬁ'cial.'z and Ofﬁci;'al 3,ora subsét thereof, about the need to obtain a written agreement by
Hondutel to lower thé Termination Rates under thé intercénnec;tiovxi agreement:

16.  Prior tC) the exeéuti.on of a written égreernent reducmgthe Térfninatioﬁ Ratés |
E undér the interconne‘c.t:ion‘agfeement, defendaﬁts JQRGE GRANADOS and .MANUEL
CACERES would and did instruct LatiNode employees to su.bmit .billingAstatements to Hondutel
that falsely and fraudulently reflected a lower number of minutes than were actually used by |
Latiqué. The purpose of such false and fraudulent billing statements was to obtain the reduced

rate to which Official 1, Official 2 and Official 3, or a subset thereof, had orally agreed.



17. In an'ticipation. of eLandia’s acquisition of LatiNSc‘ié;.’defe‘ndant’S JORGE
GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, together with others, would and did discuss the need :
to create sham consulting agreements to disguise the fact that LatiNode was paying bribes .to
Official 1, Official 2 and Official 3. |

OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to achieve the objects thereof, at least one of the
conspirators committed, or caused to be committed, in the Southern District of Florida, and
‘elsewhere, at least one of the following overt acts, among others: -

1, On or about April 24, 2006, an employee of LatiNode sent an email to defendant
MANUEL CACERES describing a meeting with the general manager of Hondutel. The
LatiNode employee wrote, in Spanish and in sum and substance, that Latinode’s business
strategy with Hondute! would be difficuit because “we know they [Hondutel] eXpé'(;t sbmething
under the table.” |

2. Onor abdut April '24, 2006, -defendant MANUEL CACERES replied to the
email described in Overt Act 1, stating,'in Spanish aﬁd in sum andAsgb.stance, that it was
important for.a certain Latinode consultant to arrange a rhéetirié with Ofﬁéial 1 and the Hondut_'el
general manager “so-they Aknow we are friends of the party |

3. On or about May 16, 2006, defenciant MANUEL CAéERES sent an em;zlil‘t‘oh
Co-con.spirator A, copying defendant JORGE GRANADOS, in which CACERES stated, in
Spanish and in sum and substance:

At the GTM the international manager informed me he couldn’t

resolve that situation and that it would be necessary to‘give’
something to the [Hondutel] general manager [ ]. I'll try this with
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[Official 1]. I’'m returning Thursday io.'Miémi and I'll plan a trip "
Sunday to meet next Monday or the same Sunday with these
criminals. ButI will solve this problem for you, I promise. Not
only will we get a PP rate (Preferential of preferentials) but the
capacity we need. [ have some things to reveal to them in
exchange for what I’'m going to ask of them.

4. Inor about August 2006, defendants MANUEL CACERES and JORGE
GRANADOS determined that they would make bribe payments to Hondutel officials, i-ncluding
Official 1, at a rate of $0.01 per minute of telephone traffic that LatiNode generated through the
Hondutel interconnection agreement. |

5. On or about September 2, 2006, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email
to Official 2 in which he requestéd, in Spanish and in sum and substance, that Official 2 “confirm
the data for the bank account where the deposit should be made,” and stated that LatiNode
ufgently needed the Hondutel Board of Directors to appréve the lowest rate for LatiNode s0 'that
LatiNode could be competitive in the market and generate.an important volume of traffic.

6. On or aboutéeptember 5, 2006, defendaﬁt MANUEL CACERES forwarded to
Co-conspirator A aﬁ email from Official 2 containing the éccouni informafion requested in Overt
Act5. In the forWarding email, CACERES explained to Co-conspirator A, in Spanish and in
sufn and substance, »that vaﬁcial‘ 2 was Hondutel’s corporéte— l-aw&er and Official 1’s “straw |
_man,.” that there \;'aé a favorable atmosphere at Hondutel to giving i;atiNode a -re'duction in fhé
Termination Rates, and that “it is important to send $60,000 for June and-July."’

7. On or about September 11, 2006, Co-conspirator A forwarded to Co-conspirator

B, and copied to defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, the email

described in Overt Act 6. Co-conspirator A wrote to Co-conspirator B, in Spanish and in sum
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and substance, that “we must make this payment,” and that the payment would result in a
decrease in LatiNode’s rates to $0.13 and $0.14. Co-conspirator A further wrote that, based on
his calculations, the payment due was $36,705 forrJune and $24,404 for July, totaling $61,109.

8. On or about September 13, 2006, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email
to Co-conspirator C, copied to Ce-eonspirator A and Co-conspirator B, in which he explained, in
Spaniéh and in sum and substance, that he was providing “the instructions for the transfer of the
commission to [Official 1],” and forwarding information for a Bank Atlantida account in the
name of “Grupo de inversiones Chicas.”

On or about September 14, 2006, defendant MANUEL CACERES and Co-codspirattor

C caused the following wire transfers to be made:

' ﬂvert Act | Am.ount of 'I‘fansfer Transferred From - Transferred To
9 $61,149 | LN Comunicaciones | Servicios [P
10 $61,109 Servicios IP Grupo de Inversiones Chicas

11.  On orabout October 27, 2006, defendant JORGE GRANADOS caused
LatiNode to issue a $30,251 check made payable to Ofﬁc1al L. ThlS amount equaled the sum of
$7 792 due to Ofﬁc1al 1 for August 2006 and $22,459 due to Ofﬁ01al 1 for September 2006.

12. On or about November 15, 2006 defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an ema11
to a LatiNode employee, copying Co-conspirator C and defendant JORGE GRANADOS, and
instructing Co-Conspirator C, in Spanish and in sum and substance, to travel to Tegucigalpa,

Honduras on November 16, 2006, pick up Official 2, and take Official 2 to San Pedro, Honduras.
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13. On ozrr abéut November 16, 2006, Co-conspirat.or,. C withdrew $100,000 from a LN
Comunicaciones bank account in Guatemala by issuing archeckr from the account payable tb
himself.

| 14. On or about November 16, 2006, defendant JORGE GRANADOS sent an email
to himself, copied to numerous LatiNode employees, including defendant MANUEL
CACERES, Co-conspirator A, Co-conspirator B and Co-conspirator C, in which he announced,
in Spanish and in sum and substance, that, “As of today, a new termination price in Honduras has
been negotiated with Hondutel’s management. [ ] The rate for cell and fixed phones is valid at
$0.12.»

15. On or about November 16, 2006, in a fol}pw—up to'the emailr described in Overt
Act 14, defendant JORGE GRANADOS sent an email to Co—conspirator Ain ;vhich he |
expléined, in Spaniéh and in sum and substance, thét the $0.12 ratc;, was “all i‘nclusive” and

'inclqded the $0.01 that the Honduran thciaié were going io be paid. GRANADOS further
wrote that “I will tell you the details, but I cannot put it in writing.” -

16 . Onor _about Decem_ber 12, 2006, defendant MANUF;L CACERES sent an email |
to defendants J ORGE GR_ANADOS, Co-cqnspirator A, andCo-conspxrafor Bin \;fhich he

- provided them, in Spanish and in sum. and sﬁbstance, with a.m:',L;_pAdate.c;n. “the situation,” including
that Official 3 had iﬁformed Hondutel’s Genéral Managef ébdlﬁ the.'$6,12. rate. CVACERES' | 7
described Official 3 as the ne.gotiator for LatiNode and the Honduran President’s representative
on Hondutel’s Board of Directors.

17. | On or about December 26, 2006, défendant MANUEL CACERES forwarded to

defendant JORGE GRANADOS an email from Official 2 that provided, in Spanish and in sum
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and substance, instructions for wiring $100,000 to four bank eicct_)un't4s':.‘(-a) $25,000 to UBS Bank;
(b) $30,000 to Waiéhovia Bank; (c) $730,000 to Banco Grupo el Ahorii-‘q Honduren (“BGA
Honduras™); and (dj $15,000 to BGA Honduras. In his forwafding émail, CACERES stated to
GRANADOS, in S.panish and in sum and substance: “I recommend sending [Official 1]
$100,000 tomorrow to the bank accounts and in the amounts according to the instructions in
[Official 2°s] email. We have stretched the rope to the maximum but we are reaching the limit
and we don’t want to break it. This payment will create tolerance for any late payments to
Hondutel, avoiding their removal of cépacity; on the contrary, it will help to get them’ t40 increase
~ it for us.”

18. On (\.)_rwabo_u-t- January 2, 2007, defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL
CACERES and Cd_—cOnspi‘rator B cauéed a wire transfer of $30,000 to be made from LatiNocie’s
Citibank account in Miami-Dade County Flonda to-a Wachowa Bank NA of Florida account in

Florida. |

19. On or about January 3, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES fo;warded to
Official 1 and Official 2 an erﬁail from Co-conspirator B to defendant JORGE GRANADOS,
copying CACERES in which Co-Conspirator B explamed in Spamsh and in sum and
substance, that LatiNode could not make two of the four transfers descrlbed 1n Overt Act 17
because of incorrect wire transfer mstrpctlons. In the forwarding erﬁali, CACERES reques;ted,
in Spanish and in sum and substance, that they verify the correct aécount information or provide
new instructions. |

On or about the following dates, defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL

CACERES and Co-conspirator B caused the following wire transfers to be made from
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LatiNode’s Citibank account in Miami-Dade County, ~Flérida:

'O_Vert Act Date Amount of _ Recipie[it Bank
| : Transfer N
20 January 4, 2007 | $30,000 BGA Honduras, to account in the name of
SONE S.A. de C.V. -
21 January 4, 2007 | $15,000 BGA Honduras, to account in the name of
Official 2

22. On or about January 15, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email to
Official 2 explainiﬁg, in Spa‘nish and in sum and substance, that “[Official 3’s] bank has rejected
the trans?fer thfee times.” CACERES suggested to Official 2 that LatiNode could either send the |
money to Official 2 to give to Official 3, or send t'he‘money to another account. Official 2 replied
to the email on or about the next aay, January 16,‘stati-ng, in Spanish and in sum and substance,
that Official 3 had advised LatiNode to “bring” a check in tﬁe name of Ofﬁcial 3.

23.  Onor aboutJ anuafy 25, 2007, Co-conspirator C caused LN Comunicaciones to
issue a $50,000 check for the benefit of Official 3. | |

24 On or about January 29, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES forwarded to
Co-conspirator B, and copied defendant JORGE GRANADOS and another LatiNode employee,
an email fr_om Ofﬁcial 2, in which Official 2 had/_instru'cted, in Spanish and in sum and |
substance, that $37,500 be wired to “SONE” and $22,500 be wi;ed to Official 2 to the same
accounts fhat had been provided in the past.

25. On or about January 30, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email to

another LatiNode employee in which he directed that the $37,500 be wired to a BGA Honduras
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account in the name of SONE and $22,500 be wired to a BGA Honduras account in the name of -
Official 2.

| On or about the following dates, defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL

CACERES and Co-conspirator B caused the following transfers to be made from LatiNode’s

Citibank account in Miami-Dade County, Florida:

- Overt Act Date Amount of Recipient Bank
e | . - Transfer
26 January 30, 2007 | $22,500 BGA Honduras, to account in the name of
' | Official 2 N
27 January 30, 2007 | $37,500 BGA Honduras, to account in the name of
SONE S.A. de C.V.

28. On or about February 7, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email to
~ Co-conspirator B and another LatiNode employee in which he instructed, in Spaniéh and in sum
and substancg, that $15,000 be wired to a BGA Honduras account in tﬁe name of Official 2. |

29. On or about February 77, 2007, defehdants MANLTEL CACERES and
Co_-conspirator B céused $15,000 to be wired from LatiNode’s Citibank account in Miami-Dade
County, Florida, to the BGA Hondilras account described in Overt Acts 21 and 28.

30. On ér_about'February 11,2007, defendant\‘JORG‘E_ GRANA‘DOS sent an email to
defendant MANUEL CACERES and Co-conspirator B in‘which he asked, in Spanish and in-
sum andrsubstance, for an u.pdate on an earlier request to obtain “ofﬁ(:a\l and retroactive
confirmation” of the $0.12 rate from Hondutel because this issue could.cause a “HUGE” problem
during the due diligence process with eLandia.

31. On or about April 10, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email to

Official 1, Official 2 and Official 3 in which he wrote, in Spanish and in sum and substance, that
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because LatiNode \&'as going to be acquired by eLandia, they would have_'tb enter into formal
consulting contracts, that “[n]o .government official (from andutel or from the government) can
appear” on the cons;ll;[ing éontract, and that he would continue to authorize payments to them,
“but the transfers will come from eLandia through Servicios IP, a firm of ours in Guatemnala.”

32.  Onorabout April 11, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email to

defendant JORGE GRANADOS and Co-conspirator A in which he wrote, in Spanish and in

-*im and substance, that Official 1 and Official 3 would sign consulting agreements in which
neither Official would appear as a representative aﬁd explained that Official 3 had control over
the Board ;)f Directors, Official 1 managed Hondutel, and both were friends with the Presidént of
Honduras.

33, On.or.about Apr-il 23, 72007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an emaii to
Co-conspirator C in \;vhichv he provided instructions r.‘egai'ding tﬁe delivery of a $38,409.73 check
to Official 3 and explained, in Spanish and in sum and substance, that Co-conspirator B would
.deposit $40,000 into the LN Comunicaciones account_“so you can write the check.” CACERES

- explained that this figure represented 25% of the pending total commission figure. A spreadsheet
attached to ;the emaﬂ listed both the $38,409.73 figure and an addi_tional $1 1 5,229.18 payment |
due to “SONE.” | N |

34, On or about April 24, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email-to
Co-conspirator B stating, in Spaﬁish and in sum and substance, that the transfer to SONE was for
$115,229.18.

35  On or about April 24, 2007, Co-conspirator C caused LN Comunicaciones to issue

a $38,409.73 check for the benefit of Official 3.
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36.  On or about April 26, 2007, Co-conspirator C caused‘$120,000 to be trrrénsférr:rrc(_i; s
~from LN Comunicacibnes to Servicios [P.

37. On or about June 24, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email tb |
defendant JORGE GRANADOS in which he included a request from Official 1 for $5,000 and
recommended, in Spanish and in sum and substance, that “we have to do the favor for the
friend.”

38. On or about June 24, 2007, in response to the email described in Overt Act 37,
.defendanf JORGE GRANADOS sent an email tb defendant MANUEL CACERES in which he
agreed with CACERES’s recommendation an‘d; in Spanish and in sum and substance, instructed
him to remind Official 1 of the subject of their upcoming meeting at Hondutel.

39. On or about June 25,2007, defendant JORGE GRANADOS sent an email to
defeﬁdant MANUEL CACERES, Co-conspiratér B, and another LatiNode errip]oyee in wﬁich
~ he wrote, in Spanish and in sum and substancé, that “We need to draw a check for $5,000 in the
name of [Official 1], as an advance for services rendered.””

40. Onor about June 25,2007, Co-conspirator C caused LN Comunicaciones to issue
a $5,040 check to Servicios IP.

41, On or about August 7, 2007, defendant MANUEL CACERES sent an email to

several LatiNode employees, including defendant JORGE GRANADOS and Co-conspirétor B, _‘

in which he explained, in Spanish and in sum and substance, the formula to be used in sending
invoices to Hondutel: “Actual Minutes X verbally agreed rate = discounted Minutes X rate per

the contract. The last part of the equation is what should be sent to Hondutel.”
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42, On or about August 15, 2007, d_efénd‘ant MANUEL“CACERES Sent an ernail .to"_'-
an employee of Hondutel’s Collections Departmenf in whicﬁ he cox.l‘ﬁrmed, 1n Spanish and in . "
sum and substance, that a transfer would be made to the emplbyge’é daughter’s account for
“consulting services” and stated that he would need to gét a receipt for the records of eLandia;s
auditors. CACERES reminded the billing employee that “we are now a public company and
everything has to be done in a transparent mannef,” and told her that neither the employee nor
another woman, also employed by Hondutel’s Collections Department, “can appear in the
 transaction at all.” )

43, In or about October 2007, defendant JORGE GRANADOS ordered another
LatiNode employee to delete emails related to Hondutel from LatiNode’s computer servérs.

All in violation of Title 18, Uhited States Code, Section 371;

COUNTS 2-i3

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(15 U.S.C. § 78dd-2(a); 18 US.C. § 2)

1 Paragraphs 1 through 17 of the General Allegations and paragraphs 4 through 17
of the Manner. and Means Section of Count 1 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference; as
though set forth herein. |

| 2 | On or about the dates listed below,V:,;:lt_r.M.iamiDél‘_»c'ié"CAo,un,ty, m the.'.So\ithéfn'
District of Florida, and elsewhere,Atl;eﬂ defendants,

JORGE GRANADOS
and MANUEL CACERES,

who were domestic concerns and officers, directors, employees and agents of a domestic concern
within the meaning of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, willfully did use and cause to be used

means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of-an"offer, payment,
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promise to pay, and authorization of the payment of any money, offer, gift, prémis'ewt‘ogii.vzé., ahd '
authorization of fhe- giving of anything of value, to a foreign official, and.to a person, while
knowing that all or a portion of such money and thing of value would be and had been offered,
given, and promised, to a foreign official, for purposes of: (i) influencing act‘s' and decisions of
such foreign ofﬁcialain his or hzr official éapacity; (11) inducing such foreign official to do and
omif to do acts in violation of the lawful duty of such official; (iii) securing an improper

- advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign official to use his or her influence with a foreign
government and agencies and instrumentalities thereof to affect and inﬂuence acts and decisions
of such government and agencijes and instrumentalitiés, in order to assist defendants JORGE
GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, Latinode, and others, known and unknown to the

Grand Jury, in obtaining and retaining business for andwith, and directing busiriess to, LatiNode,

as follows:

Count ' - Date_ _ Use of Instrumentality of Interstate Commerce -

2 September 13,2006 | Email from defendant MANUEL CACERES to '
‘Co-conspirator C in Guatemala, routed through a LatiNode
server in Miami-Dade County, Florida, providing wiring
instructions for a $60,000 payment to Official 1, which
resulted in a $61,149 wire transfer from LN Comunicaciones
to a Servicios IP account in Guatemala, and, in turn, a

' $61,109 wire transfer from Servicios IP to a Bank Atlantida
_ account in Honduras in the name of Grupo de Inversiones

_ | Chicas. -

3 November 1, 2006 $30,251 check made payable to Official 1 issued from
LatiNode’s Citibank account in Miami-Dade County, Florida,
and deposited into a BGA Honduras account in Honduras, in
the name of SONE S.A. de C.V.

4 November 16, 2006 | Email from defendant JORGE GRANADOS to himself,
copying defendant MANUEL CACERES in Honduras, and
others, routed through a LatiNode server in Miami-Dade
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Count

i)ate

Use of Ihstrumentality'df Tnterstate Commerce -

County, Florida, and announcing that Hondutel had agreed to
a reduced termination rate of $0.12, which agreement resulted
in a cash withdrawal of $100,000 by Co-Conspirator C from
LatiNode’s LN Comunicaciones account in Guatemala.

December 19, 2006

Email from Official 2 in Honduras to defendant MANUEL
CACERES, routed through a LatiNode server in Miami-
Dade County, Florida, providing instructions for wiring
$100,000 to four bank accounts, including $30,000 to
Wachovia bank, which resulted in a $30,000 wire transfer on
January 2, 2007, from LatiNode’s Citibank account in Miami-
Dade County, Florida, to a Wachovia Bank NA of Florida
account in Florida.

January 4, 2007

$30,000 wire transfer from LatiNode’s Citibank account in
Miami-Dade County, Florida, to a BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of SONE S.A. de C.V.

"| January 4, 2007

'$15,000 wire transfer from LatiNode’s Citibank account in
-Miami-Dade County, Florida, to a BGA Honduras account in

Honduras, in the name of Official 2.

January 15, 2007

Email from Official 2 in Honduras to defendant MANUEL
CACERES, routed through a LatiNode server in Miami-
Dade County, Florida, instructing CACERES to bring a
check in the name of Official 3, which resulted in a $50,000
check for the benefit of Official 3 issued on or about January
25,2007, from a LN Comunicaciones account.in Guatemala.

January 30, 2007

$22,500 wire transfer from LatiNode’s Citibank account in
Miami-Dade County, Florida, to-a BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of Official 2.

10

January 30, 2007

$37,500 wire transfet from LatiNode’s Citibank account in
Miami-Dade County, Florida, to a BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of SONE S.A. de CV

11

February 7, 2007

$15,000 wire transfer from LatiNode’s Citibank account in
Miami-Dade County, Florida, to a BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of Official 2.

12

April 23,2007

Email from defendant MANUEL CACERES to defendant
JORGE GRANADOS and Co-conspirator C in Guatemala,
routed through a LatiNode server in Miami-Dade County,
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 Count | . Date |~ Use of Instrumentality of Interstate Commerce

Florida, providing instructions regarding delivering a
$38,409.73 check to Official 3, which resulted in a
$38,409.73 cashier’s check for the benefit of Official 3 issued
on or about April 24, 2007, from an LN Comunicaciones
account in Guatemala.

13 April 23, 2007 Email from defendant MANUEL CACERES to Co-
Conspirator C in Guatemala, routed through a LatiNode
server in Miami-Dade County, Florida, and attaching a
spreadsheet that listed a $115,229.18 payment due to SONE,
which resulted in a $120,000 wire transfer on April 26, 2007,
from Latinode’s LN Comunicaciones account in Guatemala
to LatiNode’s Servicios IP account in Guatemala.

All in violation bf Title 15, United States Code, S-ection 78dd-2(a), and Title 18, United
States Code, Section 2. ' | o

. COUNT 14 7

Money Laundering Conspiracy
(18 U.S.C. § 1956(h))
1. Paragraphs | through 17 bf the ngeral Allegations are re-alleged and

incorpqrated by refqrence as though set .forth herein.

2. Fr.(l)m. in"or around April 2006, and continuing through in or around October 2007,
the exact dates being u‘nknbwn to the Grand Jury, at Miami-Dade County, in the Southern

District of Florida, and elseWhere, the defendants,

- JORGE GRANADOS
and MANUEL CACERES,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly
combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and with other persons, known and
unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses against the United States in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1956, that is, to transport, transmit and transfer and attempt to
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transport, transmit and transfer a monetary instrument and funds from a place in the United
States to a place outside the United States with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified
unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(A).

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

3. A purpose of the conspiracy was to make corrupt payments from LatiNode's
Citibank account in Miami-Dade County, Florida, to accounts in Guatemala and Honduras for
the benefit of officers and employees of the Government of Honduras and of Hondutel, a
teiecommunications company that was an agency and instrumentality of the Government of

Honduras, in exchange for business advantages to be bestowed upon LatiNode by Hondutel.

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

4. ‘Paragraphs 4 through 17 of the Manner”and Means section of Count 1 of this
Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference hefein as a description of the manner and
means by which JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERE.S an.d their Co-éoﬁspirators |
- sought to accOmplish the objecfs and purposes of the conspiracy. Fur_ther manner and means by
which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to accomplish the :ijects aﬁd purposes of
the conspiracy included, among other thi _ngs,— the following: )

5. Defendants JORGE GRANADOS and MANUEL CACERES, together with
others, would and did wire and cause to be wired bribe payments from LatiNode’s Citibank
account in Miami;Dade County, Florida, to bank accouﬁts designated by Official i, Official 2
and Official 3 outside the United States.

6. It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activity is a violation of the Foreign

Corrupt Practices Act, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-2.
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All in. vié)lation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

COUNTS 15-19
Money Laundering
(18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A); 18 US.C. § 2)

1. P;aragraphs 1 through 17 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as though set forth herein.
| 2. On or about the dates listed below, th Miami-Dade County, in the Southern
Dis_trict of F 10rida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JORGE GRANADOS
and MANUEL CACERES,

did knowingly trénspor’c, transmit, and transfer, and aid, abet, and cause others to transport,
transmit, and transfer, and attempt to tr;msport, transmit, and transfer the following monetary |
instruments and funds from a place in the United States, namely Miami-Dade County, Flor.i-da,'to
the following places outside the United States, intending that each of the transactions, in whole
and in part, prorﬁote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, that is, a felbny violation of

the Foreign Corrﬁpt Practices Act, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-2:

Count | Date | ForcignPlace | - -  Financial Transaction

15 January 4, 2007 Honduras $30,000 wire transfer from LatiNode’s -

‘ ' Citibank account in Miami-Dade County,
Florida, to a BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of SONE S.A. de
C.V. :

16 January 4, 2007 Honduras $15,000 wire transfer from LatiNode’s
Citibank account in Miami-Dade County,
Florida, to a BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of Official 2.

17 January 30, 2007 Honduras $22,500 wire transfer from LatiNode’s -
- : | Citibank account in Miami-Dade County,
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| Count | Date

| Foreign Place |

R Fmancial -Tfﬁﬁsagﬁon

Florida, to a_BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of Official 2.

18

January 30, 2007

Honduras

$37,500 wire transfer from LatiNode’s

“Citibank account in Miami-Dade County,

Florida, to a BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of SONE S.A. de
C.V. '

19

February 7, 2007

Honduras

$30,000 wire transfer from LatiNode’s
Citibank account in Miami-Dade County,
Florida, to a BGA Honduras account in
Honduras, in the name of Official 2.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2.

4 3
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* CRIMINAL FQRFEITURE -

1. Par;clgraphs 1 fhrough 17 of th¢ General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as though set forth herein.

2. Upon c-onvictiori of any of the offenses alleged in Counts 1 through 13 of this
indictment, the defendants so convicted shall forfeit to the Unitéd States any property, real or
personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to said offense(s).

3. Upon conviction of any of the offenses alleged in Counts 14 through 19 of this
indictment, the defendants 50 convicted shall forfeit to the United States ény pro;erty, real or
personal, involved in such foehse or any property traceable to such property.

4. The property subject to forfeiture includes but is not limited to:
A. all money or other property 'gépfesehting the amount of proceeds derived
from the conspiracy alleged in Coﬁnt 1; -
B. | all money or other property representing the amount oJf p_foceeds

.'constituting_or derived from fhe offenses alleged in Counts 2 through 13;
C. all money or other pro_iaerty that was the subject of each transaction,

transportation, transmission, or transfer, in violation of Tjtle 18, United

States Code, Séctioh' 1956,

D. all commissions, fees, and other property constituting proceedé obtained as
a result of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956;

E. all property used in any manner or part to commit or to facilitate the

" commission of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956;

and .
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F. all property traceable to the money or other property subject te forfeituie
under categories C, ]j,'a-nd E above.
5. Substitute Asset Provision
If any of the above-described-ferfeitable property, as a result of any act or omiésion of the
defendants: | .‘
A. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

B. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

C.  has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

D. has been substantially diminished in value: or
E. has been comiiiingled with other property which cannot be divided without
~difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States to seek. forfeiture of ariy property of said defendants up to the
value of the forfeitable prop.erty described above. |

6. If more than one defendant is convicted of an offense, the defendants so convicted
are jointly and severally liable for the amount derived from such offense. |

All pursuant to Title 18, Uriited States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(c) made applicable hereto

by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461; Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1)
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and (b)(2); and the procedu_res outlined at Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as set forth

IS

in Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.2.
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